IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006 01489SCT

LISA JO CHAMBERLIN

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 04-715CR

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed person have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible conflicts, disqualifications, or recusal:

Lisa Jo Chamberlin

Defendant

Roger Lee Gillett

Co-Defendant

Jon Mark Weathers, Esq.

Forrest County District Attorney

Ben L. Saucier, Esq.

Assistant District Attorney

Michael Adelman, Esq.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's Motion to Suppress Statements;
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's Motion to Suppress Evidence;
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's Batson challenge;
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in allowing the introduction of numerous gruesome photographs of Decedents;
- 5. Whether the trial court erred in denying Sentencing Instructions Nos. D-3 and D-10; and
- 6. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's Petition of Payment of Travel and Related Expenses for Mitigation Witnesses.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-EP-01489SCT

LISA JO CHAMBERLIN

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 04-715CR

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

i. Proceedings.

On or about September 30, 2004, Appellant Lisa Jo Chamberlin and Roger Lee Gillett were indicted on two (2) counts of Capital Murder for the killing and murder of Linda Heintzelman during the commission of a Robbery and the killing and murder of Vernon Hulett during the commission of a Robbery. (CP. 18-19). On or about September 30, 2005, the trial court entered its Order granting Appellant's Motion for Severance (CP. 89-90). Appellant Chamberlin also filed a Motion for Change of Venue (CP. 40-47; 86-88). The trial court granted Appellant's Motion for a Change of Venue and her case was separately tried before a jury drawn from a Warren County, Mississippi Special Venire (CP. 210).

On or about July 25, 2006, the trial court entered its order denying Defendant's Motion in Limine which, in effect, denied Appellant's Motion to Suppress Statements (CP. 174-176;

237-243).

Prior to trial, the trial court denied Appellant's Petition for Payment of Travel and Related Expenses for Loma Wagoner and Veronica Scheuning, potential Sentencing Phase witnesses (CP. 256-257; 412-418).

Trial commenced on July 31, 2006 and the jury found Appellant guilty of two (2) counts of Capital Murder on August 4, 2006 (T. 164; 867). Shortly thereafter, the court commenced the Sentencing Phase and on August 4, 2006, Appellant was sentenced to death in both Counts I and II of the Indictment (T. 996).

Subsequent to trial, Appellant filed Motion for Stay of Execution Date (CP. 351-352) and Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or, in the Alternative, Motion for a New Trial (CP. 353-356). On August 25, 2006, the trial court entered its Order Granting Stay of Execution Date (CP. 387) and Order Denying Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or, in the Alternative, Motion for a New Trial (CP. 388). Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on August 28, 2006 (CP. 389) and the matter is now pending before the Mississippi Supreme Court.

ii. Facts.

Lisa Jo Chamberlin was arrested in Russell, Kansas on March 29, 2004 (T. 619). She was interrogated by Officer Matt Lyon of the Kansas Bureau of Investigations (KBI), beginning at approximate 5:13 p.m. that same day (T. 20; Exh. S-58). At approximately 5:14 p.m., Ms. Chamberlin stated: "I can't tell you anything until I talk to a lawyer" (Exh. S-58). Officer Lyon continued to attempt to change Ms. Chamberlin's mind and at approximately 5:18 p.m., he read Ms. Chamberlin her *Miranda* rights (Ex. S-58), after which she unequivocally invoked her right

to remain silent (Ex. S-58). Apparently, Officer Lyon was unhappy with Ms. Chamberlin's decision and continued to cajole and attempt to trick Ms. Chamberlin into changing her mind (Ex. S-58; T. 640-642).

Officer Lyon, an experienced special agent, well aware of Ms. Chamberlin's right to remain silent, attempted to coerce her into changing her mind by stating that her Co-Defendant, Roger Gillett had blamed "everything" on Ms. Chamberlin (Ex. S-58; T. 640-641). During his cross-examination at trial, Officer Lyon admitted that this statement was untrue (T.640) and that he had lied to Ms. Chamberlin for the sole purpose of getting her to talk (T. 641).

The following morning, March 30, 2004, Agent Lyon along with Special Agent Delbert Hawel initiated a second interrogation of Ms. Chamberlin (T. 654-658). Special Agent Kelly Raulston was also present for this interrogation (T. 684-696). This interrogation was not videotaped or recorded (T. 684), and Ms. Chamberlin did not sign a statement.

During the afternoon of March 30, 2004, Ms. Chamberlin was again interrogated and the videotape of this interrogation is Exhibit S-60. Ms. Chamberlin was highly emotional, rambling and disconnected during this interrogation (Ex. S-60). Her statements often made little sense (Ex. S-60). Approximately thirty (30) minutes into the interrogation, Ms. Chamberlin stated that she could not continue. Ex. S-60.

After the interrogation on March 30, 2004, Ms. Chamberlin took law enforcement officers to a dump site located in Russell, Kansas (T. 521-522). Seven black garbage bags filled with items of evidence were recovered from the dump site. (T521-522).

The following morning Ms. Chamberlin was again interrogated (Ex. S-59). During the

pre-trial motion hearing, Special Agent Hawel testified that Ms. Chamberlin through a jailer requested to speak with law enforcement officers (T. 91-92). However, the jailer to whom Ms. Chamberlin allegedly made this request did not testify at the pretrial motion hearing (T. 56-163). Agent Hawel was very clear that Ms. Chamberlin did not initiate either of the interrogations that took place on March 30, 2004 (T. 91).

Max Barrett, the Under Sheriff or Chief Deputy of Russell County, Kansas, who did not testify at the pre-trial motion hearing, testified at trial (T. 508-546). From his testimony, it appears that he was the deputy to whom Ms. Chamberlin expressed her desire to speak with one of the KBI agents (T. 533-534). But, Under Sheriff Barrett testified that this conversation occurred either on March 29th or March 30th, NOT on March 31, 2004 (T. 533-534). Exhibit 59 is the videotape of Ms. Chamberlin's interrogation on March 31, 2004.

Appellant's Motion for Change of Venue was granted by the trial court (CP 210), and she was tried before a jury selected from Warren County, Mississippi (CP 210). The State's case consisted primarily of Ms. Chamberlin's statements, exhibits taken from the crime scene, autopsy photographs of both victims, the testimony of Vernon Hulett's mother, the testimony of Michael Hester and the testimony of numerous law enforcement officers and the Russell County coroner and pathologist, Dr. Donald Pojman.

After the jury convicted Appellant of two (2) counts of capital murder, the court reconvened the jury for the sentencing phase of trial (T. 869). The State moved to incorporate all of its evidence, testimony and exhibits from the guilt phase (T. 871). Appellant presented three witnesses: Ms. Sherry Norris (T. 872-879), Ms. Carla DiBenetto (T. 880-879), and Dr.

Beverly Smallwood, Ph. D. (T. 891-935). The trial court denied Appellant's motion seeking travel and lodging expenses so that Appellant's aunt, Loma Wagoner and childhood best friend, Veronica Scheuning, could testify on her behalf during the sentencing phase (CP 256-258; 410-416). The trial court denied her motion despite the fact that the State of Mississippi paid Twelve Thousand Two Hundred Seventeen Dollars and forty-three cents (\$12,217.43) for the travel expenses of nine (9) State witnesses (CP 244-251; 270-276; 357-360; 361-370; 371-375; 377.380).

During the Sentencing Phase, Sherry Norris testified that during early 2005, she spent thirty-one (31) days in the Forrest County Jail for a probation violation (T. 872-873). She testified that she had never been in jail before and was terrified (T. 873). Ms. Norris testified that the person whom came to her aid, who befriended her, was Lisa Jo Chamberlin (T. 873-875). During her incarceration, Ms. Norris also learned of the charges against Appellant (T. 874-875).

Based on her experience with Lisa Jo Chamberlin, and knowing that Ms. Chamberlin had been convicted of two (2) counts of Capital Murder, Ms. Norris, nevertheless, asked the jury to spare Ms. Chamberlin's life (T. 875-876).

Carla DiBenetto also testified that she came to know Ms. Chamber in the Forrest County Jail (T. 881). Ms. DiBenetto was incarcerated for drug court violations (T. 881). She testified that during her incarceration, she became friends with Ms. Chamberlin (T. 882) and that they have kept in touch by phone, letters and visits since Ms. DiBenetto's release (T. 882). She testified that in her opinion, if Ms. Chamberlin were given a life sentence, rather than death, Ms.

Chamberlin could contribute to society (T. 883). She believes Ms. Chamberlin could teach other inmates not only fundamentals, such as reading and math, but also give inmates advice on ow not to follow in Ms. Chamberlin's footsteps (T. 883-884).

Dr. Beverly Smallwood, Ph.D., a clinical psychologist and with advanced training from the American Board of Forensic Psychology, testified on behalf of Ms. Chamberlin (T. 891). The State stipulated and accepted Dr. Smallwood as an expert in psychology (T. 891-892). Dr. Smallwood was appointed by the Court to assist in Ms. Chamberlin's defense (T. 891). She spent between twenty and twenty-five hours interviewing Appellant (T. 892-903). She also administered psychological tests to Ms. Chamberlin and interviewed collateral witnesses (T. 892).

Dr. Smallwood testified that as a child, Ms. Chamberlin was the victim of extensive sexual and physical abuse, both from members of her family and from individuals outside of her family (T. 894-895). As a result of these experiences, Appellant turned to drugs and alcohol at a young age, and eventually became addicted to methamphetamine (T. 899-900). She was married at aged fifteen (15) and has never been divorced from her husband (T. 896).

Ms. Chamberlin is the mother of three children (T. 899): two sons and one daughter (T. 896). Each child has a different father, none of whom is Appellant's husband (T. 896). Ty McClain, the father of one of Ms. Chamberlin's children, was particularly brutal in his treatment of Appellant (T. 897). In addiction, Ms. Chamberlin met her co-Defendant in this case, Roger Gillett, through Ty McClain (T. 897-898).

Ms. Chamberlin's relationship with Mr. Gillett was extremely volatile (T. 898). On one

occasion, he tried to drown her in a pond in Colorado (T. 898).

Ms. Chamberlin's full-scale IQ, based on Dr. Smallwood's testimony, falls in the low average range (T. 899). Dr. Smallwood diagnosed Ms. Chamberlin as suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder and borderline personality disorder (T. 899-900). Dr. Smallwood testified that by the time of the crimes in this case, Lisa Jo Chamberlin was a "psychological mess." (T. 907). Because of her life experiences, particularly the lack of positive role models, Ms. Chamberlin did not have the tools to make good life choices (T 906). While Dr. Smallwood testified that Ms. Chamberlin has certainly lived an irresponsible lifestyle (T. 907), she is not a hardened psychopath without feelings and the ability to care for people (T. 907-909). Like Sherry Norris and Carla DiBenetto, Dr. Smallwood was of the opinion that, if given a life sentence, Ms. Chamberlin could live a productive life and help other inmates (T. 910).

Dr. Smallwood also testified that in her opinion Ms. Chamberlin was under the influence of her diagnosed mental conditions at the time of the crimes committed in this case (T. 911).

Despite the testimony of Ms. Norris, Ms. DiBenetto and Dr. Smallwood, the jury sentenced Ms. Chamberlin to death.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant's Motion to Suppress Statements should have been granted by the trial court. Appellant was arrested in Russell, Kansas on March 29, 2004. She was interrogated on that same date by Officer Matt Lyon of the Kansas Bureau of Investigations (KBI) and during this interrogation she unequivocally invoked her right to remain silent. Nevertheless, Officer Lyon continued to cajole and attempt to persuade and trick Ms. Chamberlin into changing her mind

and answering his questions. The following morning, March 30, 3004, law enforcement agents initiated a second interrogation, not initiated by Ms. Chamberlin, despite the fact that Ms. Chamberlin had unequivocally invoked her right to remain silent during the initial interrogation on March 29, 2004. The results of that interrogation as well as a second interrogation on March 30, 2004, which was videotaped (Exhibit S-60) should have been suppressed. The following morning Ms. Chamberlin was again interrogated and although a witness at the Pre-Trial Motion Hearing testified that Ms. Chamberlin through a jailer had requested to speak with law enforcement officers, the person or persons to whom Ms. Chamberlin allegedly made this request did not testify at the Pre-Trial Motion Hearing. Appellant submits that the State of Mississippi failed to meet its burden of proof regarding the interrogations which took place on March 31, 2004, by failing to proffer as witnesses the person or persons to whom Ms. Chamberlin made this request.

Appellant's Motion to Suppress Evidence should have also been granted. Based on this Pre-Trial Motion, during the trial of this cause, Appellant objected to the admission into the evidence of Exhibits S-2, S-3, S-4, S-5 and S-35 through S-44 as "fruit of the poisonous tree." Each of these exhibits came out of the Russell County dump located in Russell County, Kansas where Ms. Chamberlin took law enforcement officers during the evening of March 30, 2004. Seven black plastic bags filled with items of evidence were recovered from the dump. Appellant submits that her agreement to take law enforcement officers to the Russell County dump was a direct result of the impermissible and illegal interrogation of Ms. Chamberlin on March 30, 2004. Thus, this evidence constitutes "fruit of the poisonous tree" and should have been suppressed.

Appellant submits that the trial court erred in denying her *Batson* challenge during the selection of the jury in this case. The trial court erred first by not making a clear determination that Appellant had established a prima facie case of discrimination by showing that the State exercised seven (7) of its twelve (12) peremptory challenges to strike African American jurors off of the regular panel. The State also struck a potential African American juror as an alternate. Had the trial court correctly ruled that the Defendant had established her prima facie case of discrimination, the Court would have been compelled to find that the allegedly race-neutral reasons offered by the State were, in fact, pretext for discrimination. In fact, even if the court were to conclude that the peremptory challenges of the other African American jurors can withstand a *Batson* challenge, the challenge of Mr. Thomas Sturgis cannot. Mr. Sturgis was an administrator at Alcorn State University. His questionnaire actually stated that he generally favors the death penalty. He also stated that he could be open-minded and has the ability to assimilate information and reach conclusions and opinions based on that information. Appellant would submit that Mr. Sturgis would have been an ideal juror and the only basis for striking Mr. Sturgis was that he appeared to a strong African American male.

Counsel for Lisa Jo Chamberlin repeatedly objected to the admission into evidence of gruesome and prejudicial photographs. See Exhibits S-48; S-49; S-66-73; S-76; S-80; S-81. These objections should have been sustained. The photographs in question were particularly gruesome and served little, if any probative value.

At the Sentencing Hearing, the trial court refused Appellant's Sentencing Instruction D-3 and D-10, which are "mercy" instructions. In the recent decision of the United States Supreme

Court in *Kansas v. Marsh*, 165 L.Ed. 2d 429, 443-444, 450 n. 3 (2006), the United States Supreme Court held that the trial court must give a mercy instruction where the death penalty sentencing statute provides that if the jury finds beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of aggravating circumstances, in order not to impose the death penalty, those circumstances must be outweighed by any mitigating circumstances. That is the structure the Mississippi Death Penalty Sentencing Statute, just as it is the structure of the Kansas Death Penalty Sentencing Statute.

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a Petition for Payment of Travel and Related Expenses. In her Petition, Appellant sought travel expenses and funds for lodging accommodations for Loma Wagoner, who lives in Spokane, Washington, and Veronica Scheuning, who lives in Portland, Oregon. Ms. Wagoner is Appellant's aunt and Ms. Scheuning is Appellant's childhood best friend. The Court was advised that each of these witnesses would be an important witness in the penalty stage of trial, if Appellant was found guilty of Capital Murder.

The court denied Appellant's Petition.

The denial of Appellant's Petition was a violation of Appellant's rights under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment as well as the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

The trial court's denial of this Petition also constituted a violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, given the fact that the court authorized payment of more than Twelve Thousand Dollars (\$12,000.00) for the travel expenses of State witnesses in this case.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS.

Lisa Jo Chamberlin was arrested in Russell, Kansas on March 29, 2004. Shortly thereafter, at approximately 5:13 p.m., she was interrogated by Officer Matt Lyon of the Kansas Bureau of Investigation (KBI). Exhibit S-58 is the videotape of this interrogation. At approximately 5:14 p.m., within a minute into the interview, Ms. Chamberlin stated: "I won't tell you anything until I talk to a lawyer." At approximately 5:18 p.m., Officer Lyon read Ms. Chamberlin her "Miranda" rights, after which she again unequivocally invoked her right to remain silent. Nevertheless, Officer Lyon continued to cajole and attempt to persuade and trick Ms. Chamberlin into changing her mind and answering his questions. He admitted as much during his cross-examination at trial:

"BY MR. ADELMAN:

Q. Nevertheless, as I understand, at that point still you continued to discuss the case, and you actually told her that Roger was blaming everything- - that you had spoken with Roger and that Roger was blaming everything on her; didn't you?

A. Yes, sir, I did.

Q. At that point she told you that she did not want to speak any further. She had exercised her right not to speak any further under the Miranda. But you, nevertheless, held out a carrot or a stick in the form that Roger - - that you had interviewed Roger and Roger had told you that everything was her fault, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. Now, let me ask you this. Had you in fact really interviewed Roger?

- A. I had interviewed Roger. That's correct.
- Q. Had Roger in fact blamed everything on Lisa Jo?
- A. No.
- Q. So this was nothing more than a tactic you were using after this defendant had exercised her right under the Miranda?
- A. That's correct, sir.
- Q. And you had no hesitancy to exercise that tactic and use that tool even though it involved a level of dishonesty, did you?
- A. Sure.
- Q. Sure what?
- A. I had no problem with that.
- Q. No problem with that?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. You're a law enforcement officer, a special agent I believe with the Kansas Bureau of Investigation.
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Well aware of a defendant's rights under Miranda versus Arizona, right?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And, nevertheless, after this defendant had exercised her right under Miranda, you went ahead and you presented a scenario which was not true?
- A. That's correct." T. 640-642

The following morning, agents of the KBI again approached Ms. Chamberlin and

initiated a second interrogation. This interrogation was initiated entirely by the agents of the KBI, NOT Ms. Chamberlin. Unfortunately, there is no record of that interrogation. It was not videotaped or recorded, and Ms. Chamberlin did not sign a statement. KBI Agents, Delbert Hawel and Kelly Raulston, as well as Special Agent Lyon were present for this interrogation (T.654; 684). At trial, both Agents Hawel and Raulston gave summaries of Ms. Chamberlin's interrogation on the morning of March 30, 2004 (T. 659-663; 686-696). Agent Raulston read from his report (Exhibit S-64).

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