IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

LISA JO CHAMBERLIN,

Appellant

versus

NO. 2006-DP-01489-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

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

For the first time, in this direct appeal, the Appellant contends the trial court erred in not granting the motion to suppress because Undersheriff Barrett did not testify at the pretrial hearing regarding the motion. The Appellant contends *Agee v. State*, 185 So.2d 671 (Miss.1966), requires the testimony of all witnesses present at the confession *when a defendant testifies that the confession was not voluntary*. This is a case of putting the horse before the cart in that the Appellant *never* offered testimony that any of her statements were involuntary. Chamberlin did not testify nor did any other person testify for the defense at the suppression hearing as the defense rested immediately after the State concluded it's presentation. Tr. 142.

As this Court recently held regarding the voluntariness of a confession:

¶ 26. The State has the burden of proving the voluntariness of a confession. Agee v. State, 185 So.2d 671, 673 (Miss.1966). This burden is met by the testimony of an officer, or other person, having knowledge of the facts, that the confession was voluntarily made without any threats, coercion, or offer of reward. Morgan v. State, 681 So.2d 82, 89 (Miss.1996) (citing Agee, 185 So.2d at 673). This creates a prima facie case for the State on the question of voluntariness. Id. When objection is made to the introduction of the confession, the accused is entitled to a preliminary hearing on the question of

the admissibility of the confession, which is conducted in the absence of the jury. *Id.* After the State has made out a prima facie case as to the voluntariness of the confession, if "the accused offers testimony that violence, threats of violence, or offers of reward induced the confession, then the State must offer all the officers who were present when the accused was questioned and when the confession was signed, or give an adequate reason for the absence of any such witness." Id. (citing *Lee v. State*, 236 Miss. 716, 112 So.2d 254 (1959)). We also have held that "the resolution of conflicting testimony regarding voluntariness is a question of fact to be resolved by the trial judge at the suppression hearing." Id. (quoting *Chase v. State*, 645 So.2d 829, 841 (Miss.1994)); see also Veal v. State, 585 So.2d 693, 697 (Miss.1991) (this Court will not reverse trial court on conflicting testimony as to whether coercion used to obtain confession).

Bell v. State, — So.2d —, 2007 WL 2051365 (Miss.2007).

The Appellant also contends that certain exhibits should have been barred from introduction into evidence based upon the argument that since the Appellant's statements, discussed *supra* in the first issue, should have been suppressed as improperly obtained, that the items should have been suppressed based on the concept of "fruit of the poisonous tree".

Chamberlin filed a pre-trial motion regarding her desire to have the items recovered from the landfill in Kansas, State's Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, 35 - 44, suppressed, however she declined to argue the issue when it was brought before the court prior to the trial. C.P. 172-73, Tr. 155. At trial, Chamberlin did reference the motion in her argument to have the evidence excluded when it was presented as evidence. Tr. 525.

The only argument forwarded by the Appellant on this issue is that the search of the landfill was a result of the statements made by Chamberlin on March 30, 2004. As discussed above, the statements made by Chamberlin were all knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily

made to law enforcement and the officers properly initiated contact with Chamberlin on that date. As Chamberlin's rights were meticulously observed at all times, pursuant to *Edwards* v. *Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477 (1981), *Miranda* v. *Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), *Michigan* v. *Mosley*, 423 U.S. 96 (1975), and *Agee* v. *State*, 185 So.2d 671 (Miss.1966), there is no basis for the exclusion of lawfully obtained evidence from the landfill. This issue is without merit and no relief for the Appellant should be granted.

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND NO BATSON VIOLATION.

Seven of the State's twelve peremptory challenges involved the striking of African American veniremen. One other African American was struck by the State in the selection of the alternate jurors. The Appellant complained to the court that the strikes were in violation of the precepts of *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) (prohibiting the exercise of discriminatory peremptory challenges based solely on race).

The trial court did not find that Chamberlin had presented a prima facie case of discrimination. However, the State volunteered its race-neutral reasons, which were accepted by the trial court.

This Court's standard for reviewing Batson questions in this situation is well-settled:

The proper analysis for a violation pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.ed.2d 69 (1986) has been set forth by this Court in numerous cases. *See Berry v. State*, 728 So.2d 568 (Miss.1999); *Randall v. State*, 716 So.2d 584 (Miss.1998); *McFarland v. State*, 707 So.2d 166 (Miss.1998). The United States Supreme Court in *Henandez v. New York*, 500 U.S. 352, 111 S.Ct. 1859, 114 L.Ed2d 395 (1991) provided *Batson* requires that:

The defendant must make a prima facie showing that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges on the basis of race. Second, if the requisite showing has been made, the burden shifts to the prosecutor to articulate a race-neutral explanation for striking the jurors in question. Finally, the trial court must determine whether the defendant has carried his burden of proving purposeful discrimination.

The trial court's decision is accorded great deference on review and this Court will reverse only where the decision is clearly erroneous. *Randall v. State*, 716 So.2d at 587; *Collins v. State*, 691 So.2d 918, 926 (Miss.1997). In establishing the necessary prima facie showing of discrimination a defendant must demonstrate:

(1) that he is a member of a cognizable racial group; (2) that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire member's of the defendant's race; (3) and the facts and circumstances raised an inference that the prosecutor used his peremptory challenges for the purpose of striking minorities.

Walker, 740 So.2d at 879. •

Although the trial court did not explicitly rule whether [the appellant] established a *Batson* prima facie case, the trial court required the State to provide race-neutral reasons for its challenges and because the State provided explanations for its challenges, the issue of whether [the appellant] established a prima facie case and whether the State should be required to give race-neutral reasons for its challenges is moot. *Mack*, 650 So.2d at 1297 (citing *Hernandez*, 500 U.S. 352-54, 111 S.Ct 1859, 114 L.Ed.2d 395).

Snow v. State, 800 So.2d 472, 478 (Miss.2001)(affirming trial court's ruling that reasons were race-neutral, where the State used eight peremptory challenges, all to strike black members of the venire).

Therefore,

... the "next step is to determine whether the prosecution met its burden of showing sufficient race-neutral explanations for its strikes." Woodward, 726

So.2d at 529-30. "A peremptory challenge does not have to be supported by the same degree of justification required for a challenge for cause." *Stewart v. State*, 662 So.2d at 558. It is not necessary to meet the same standard of examination as a challenge for cause for a peremptory challenge. Id.

Steven v. State, 806 So.2d 1031, 1046 (Miss.2001).

Indeed, the standard for reviewing such questions is highly deferential:

This Court accords great deference to the trial court in determining whether the offered explanation under the unique circumstances of the case is truly a race-neutral reason. *Stewart*, 662 So.2d at 558. This Court will not reverse a trial judge's factual finding on this issue "unless they appear clearly erroneous or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." *Id.* (quoting *Lockett v. State*, 517 So.2d 1346, 1350 (Miss.1987)). One of the reasons for this is because the demeanor of the attorney using the strike is often the best evidence on the issue of race-neutrality. *Id.* at 559 (citing *Hernandez v. New York*, 500 U.S. 352, 365, 111 S.Ct. 1859, 114 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991)).

Finley v. State, 725 So.2d 226, 240 (Miss. 1998).

As stated previously, Chamberlin raises objections to the State's peremptory challenges of eight jurors (5, 38, 81, 92, 104, 106, 117 and 229) for consideration under this standard of review. With regard to jurors 5, 38, 81 and 92, the defense did not attempt to refute the reasons offered by the State regarding their strikes. Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred as to those jurors, 5, 38, 81 and 92. *See Manning v. State*, 735 So.2d 323, 339 (Miss.1999) ("It is incumbent upon a defendant claiming that proffered reasons are pretextual to raise the argument before the trial court. The failure to do so constitutes waiver.")(citing *Mack v. State*, 650 So.2d1289, 1297 (Miss.1994)); *Manning v. State*, 726 So.2d 1152, 1182 (Miss. 1998) ("First, Manning is procedurally barred from asserting this claim . . . for failure to rebut the prosecutor's reason for the strike as pretexual."); *Woodward*

v. State, 726 So.2d 524, 533 (Miss.1997) ("In the absence of an actual proffer of evidence by the defendant to rebut the State's neutral explanations, this Court may not reverse on this point.) (citations omitted).

Alternatively, and without waiving any applicable bar, the following analysis clearly demonstrates that the State's use of its peremptory challenges was correct and proper with regard to the remaining prospective jurors.

As to Juror Number 104:

MR. SAUCIER: No. 104. Answer to question 30, "Are you emotionally capable of standing up in court and announcing your verdict?" Not sure. "Would you hold the State to a greater burden," on question 34. Not sure. Question No. 35, "Would you want to be a hundred percent certain?" Yes. I believe that's it on that one.

Tr. 402-03. See Supplemental Record (S-R) at 1609-19.

As to Juror Number 106:

MR. SAUCIER: No. 106 I believe is our next one. 106 to question 30, not sure she's capable emotionally of rendering a verdict. Not sure. That she would hold the State to a greater burden.

THE COURT: I think 106 is a he.

MR. SAUCIER: Oh, he. I'm sorry. No. 34, not sure whether they would hold us to a greater burden. Question No. 35, would require a hundred percent certainty. I believe that's it on that one.

Tr. 403. See S-R. 585-95.

As to Juror Number 117:

MR. SAUCIER: No. 117. Question 31, "In all fairness can you set aside your personal opposition or hesitancy to the death penalty and judge the case based on what the judge gives you and the facts and circumstances?" No. Question 34, requires to have a greater burden of proof, not sure. Question 35, a hundred percent certainty, not sure. And that's all on that one.

Tr. 403-04. See S-R. 1146-56.

As to Juror Number 229:

I believe the last one is No. 229. Answered question 28, "Are your beliefs so strong that no matter what the circumstances of the offense were, no matter what the character of the defendant was, you would not be able to vote the death penalty?" She said, yes.

No. 36, "Would you be less likely to find someone guilty if there was the possibility of the death sentence?" Yes.

Tr. 404, See S-R. 1697-1707.

The Appellant then briefly attempted to rebut the State's explanations for four of the eight jurors in question:

MR. ADELMAN: [A]s to the reasons which the State has given, there's a couple of jurors I specifically would like to address. 104 in particular is a man who's name is Thomas Sturgis, African American. He was an administer at Alcorn State University. In his questionaire he stated that he generally favors the death penalty.

And in a comment in response to question No. 56 he said, "I am fair and open-minded and have the ability to assimilate information and reach -- or form a conclusion or an opinion." So we would submit that this is a man who, when I first read these questionaires, struck me as being someone who would be a very appropriate juror.

And we would submit as to Juror No. 104 the reasons submitted by the State do not overcome the inference of prejudice.

No. 106. Also, we would note the State struck number 106, Mr. David Minor, someone who we'd point out has a nephew with the highway patrol. The State accepted other jurors with law enforcement connections. His opinion on the death penalty was he had no opinion. And, also, he's worked for the Vicksburg fire department for twenty-eight years.

As to number 117, Gloria Broome, she stated in her questionaire she has no opinion as to the death penalty.

As to Juror No. 229, the alternate juror that was struck, Audrey Brown, she also stated that she had no opinion.

We would submit, Your Honor, on those last four that I read, Mr. Sturgis, Mr. Minor, Gloria Broome, and Audrey Brown, that if you look at the totality of their questionaire, it appears that they could be absolutely open- and fair-minded jurors on the question of the death penalty.

THE COURT: Response?

MR. WEATHERS: None other than what we made except I want the record to be clear, and I think it is, that we submitted Juror No. 76, Stacey Lashawn Carter, who's an African American. They struck her as D-6.

We also submitted Dewain Dixon, Juror No. 201, who happens to be an African American. They used strike D-12.

We also were very happy with Juror No. 215 as an alternate, Patrick Brown. He's an African American, and they struck him. So I think the record is very clear why each side - - or at least the State exercised its challenges.

THE COURT: My ruling stands. Anything further?

Tr. 405-08.

In sum, Chamberlin did not even attempt to rebut any of the reasons given by the State with regard to jurors 5, 38, 81 and 92. She did not rebut all of the reasons for striking jurors 104, 106, 117 and 229. Regarding Appellant's attempt to rebut the reasons given for the strike on juror number 104, the Appellant did not address the State's reasons but instead informed the court that he had stated in his questionnaire that he could be fair, open-minded and generally favored the death penalty. As to jurors106, 117 and 229 her only argument was that each of them marked that they had no opinion of the death penalty. Therefore, the State submits that:

... the record clearly indicates that [defense] counsel offered no rebuttal to the State's explanations for its peremptory strikes. In *Bush v. State*, 585 So.2d 1262 (Miss.1991), we stated that if a racially neutral procedurally is offered the defendant can rebut the explanation. *Id.* at 1268. If the defendant makes no rebuttal, the trial judge must base his decision only on the explanations given by the State. *Id.* On appellate review this decision is given great deference, and we will reverse only when such decisions are clearly erroneous. *Lockett v. State*, 517 So.2d 1346, 1349-50 (Miss.1987). Therefore, we review the trial court's ruling on the strikes under a harmless error analysis.

Gary v. State, 760 So.2d 743, 748 (Miss.2000). Chamberlin has failed to demonstrate any error here, harmless or otherwise.

Additionally, as to potential juror number 106, the Appellant attempts to concoct a showing of pretext, by falsely accusing the State of offering as a "primary reason" for the strike that the juror had a nephew with the Mississippi Highway Safety Patrol. The assertion is a complete fabrication on the part of the Appellant. At no time was the issue of Mr. Minor's possible connections to law enforcement brought out by the prosecution as a reason to strike. The Appellant was the only voice of opposition to the seating of law enforcement related jurors. Tr. 383, 384, 385. It was only Chamberlin that brought out Mr. Minor's law enforcement connection in her attempt to rebut the State's explanation for the strike. Tr. 407.

Alternatively, the reasons given for exercising the strikes against the disputed jurors are all within the realm of explanations approved by this Court. Chamberlin does not demonstrate any evidence of discriminatory intent on the part of the State. Therefore, the trial court correctly accepted the reasons given by the State. Based on the foregoing, the

State submits that Chamberlin's argument is, partly procedurally barred as well as without substantive merit.

This is particularly true, given that: (1) this Court's deferential standard of review on this issue, and (2) the fact that the trial court's ruling were supported by the precedent of this Court. "The trial judge witnessed the challenges in court and could observe the demeanor of all involved as well as all other relevant circumstances in this case.... [T]he trial court's findings are not clearly erroneous or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Therefore this contention is without merit." *See Stevens*, 806 So.2d at 1048.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE ADMISSION OF PHOTOGRAPHS.

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